
 

  

City and County of Swansea 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
You are invited to attend a Meeting of 
the 

 

Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee 
 

At: 
 

Lord Mayors Reception Room - Guildhall, Swansea 
 

On: 
 

Tuesday, 29 October 2019 

Time: 
 

2.00 pm 

Chair: Councillor Rob Stewart (Swansea Council) 
 

Membership: 
Councillors:  
Emlyn Dole Carmarthenshire Council 
Rob Jones Neath Port Talbot Council 
David Simpson Pembrokeshire Council 
 
Co-opted Non-Voting Representatives: 
Maria Battle Hywel Dda University Health Board 
Professor Medwin Hughes University of Wales Trinity Saint David 
Edward Tomp Chair of Economic Strategy Board 
Steve Wilks Swansea University 
Emma Woollett Swansea Bay University Health Board 
  

 

Agenda 
Page No. 

1   Apologies for Absence.  
 
2   Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests.  

 www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests  
 
3   Minutes. 1 - 3 

 To approve & sign the Minutes of the previous meeting(s) as a correct 
record. 

 

 
4   Announcement(s) of the Chair.  
 
5   Public Questions  

 Questions must relate to matters on the open part of the Agenda of the 
meeting and will be dealt with in a 10 minute period. 

 

www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests


 
 

 
6   Swansea Bay City Deal Projects Update. (Verbal)  
 
7   Project Issue Log and Programme Risk Register. 4 - 10 
 
8   Financial Monitoring Report 2019/20 - Swansea Bay City Deal 

Outturn Position. 
11 - 15 

 
9   Additional Resource Funding Proposal. 16 - 18 
 
10   Establish a Transport Sub Committee. 19 - 21 
 
11   Cash Flow & Grant Profile Summary. 22 - 28 
 
12   Letter from the Swansea Bay City Region Joint Scrutiny 

Committee. 
29 - 33 

 
13   Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee - Future Dates 2020-

2021. 
34 - 36 

 
14   Exclusion of the Public. 37 - 40 
 
15   Pembroke Dock Marine Business Case. 41 - 48 
 
16   Shortlisting of Programme Director. 49 - 58 
 
 

Next Meeting: Tuesday, 26 November 2019 at 2.00 pm 

 
 
Huw Evans 
Head of Democratic Services  
Wednesday, 23 October 2019 

Contact: Democratic Services (01792) 636923 
 



 

 

City and County of Swansea 
 

Minutes of the Swansea Bay City 
Region Joint Committee 

 
Lord Mayors Reception Room - 

Guildhall, Swansea  

Tuesday, 10 September 2019 at 1.30 pm 

 
Present: Councillor Rob Stewart (Swansea Council) Presided 

 
Councillors: 
Emlyn Dole Carmarthenshire Council 
Rob Jones Neath Port Talbot Council 
David Simpson Pembrokeshire Council 

 
Co-opted Non-Voting Representatives:  
 University of Wales Trinity Saint David 
Edward Tomp Chair of Economic Strategy Board 
 Swansea University 

 
Officers:  
Richard Arnold Swansea City Region Finance Manager (Swansea Bay City 

Region) 
Huw Evans Head of Democratic Services (Swansea Council) 
Nicola Lewis Acting Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Pembrokeshire Council) 
Tracey Meredith Joint Committee Monitoring Officer (Swansea Council) 
Chris Moore Joint Committee S151 Officer (Carmarthenshire County 

Council) 
Helen Morgan Economic Development Manager (Carmarthenshire Council) 
Rhian Phillips Regional Office (Carmarthenshire Council) 
Steve Phillips Chief Executive (Neath Port Talbot Council) 
Phil Roberts Chief Executive (Swansea Council) 
Wendy Walters Chief Executive (Carmarthenshire Council) 

 
Apologies for Absence: 
Councillor(s)  
Maria Battle (Hywel Dda University Health Board), Medwin Hughes (University of 
Wales Trinity Saint David), Steve Wilks (Swansea University) and Emma Woollett 
(Swansea Bay University Health Board) 
Jon Haswell (S151 Officer (Pembrokeshire County Council)) and Ian Westley (Chief 
Executive (Pembrokeshire Council)) 
 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes of the Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee (10.09.2019) 
Cont’d 

 

13 Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests. 
 
In accordance with the Code of Conduct adopted by the City and County of 
Swansea, no interests were declared. 
 

14 Minutes. 
 
Resolved that the Minutes of the Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee 
meeting held on 30 July 2019 be signed and approved as a correct record. 
 

15 Announcement(s) of the Chair. 
 
1) Programme Director Update 
 

The Chair stated that interest in the Programme Director post was positive 
and that the Monitoring Officer and Regional Office would be meeting on 16 
September 2019 in order to discuss the recruitment process. 

 
2) Next Meeting – 2.00pm on 24 September 2019 
 

The Chair stated that the next meeting of the Swansea Bay City Region was 
scheduled for 2.00pm on 24 September 2019.  All reports needed to be 
submitted to the Regional Office and Head of Democratic Services by 16 
September 2019.  It was hoped that the “Terms and Conditions” report would 
be considered at that meeting. 

 
16 Public Questions 

 
There were no public questions. 
 

17 Statement of Accounts - Annual Return 2018/19. 
 
The Swansea Bay City Region (SBCR) Section 151 Officer presented the 
“Statement of Accounts – Annual Return 2018-2019” where he highlighted that the 
accounts were for the period 29 August 2018 (the first formal Joint Committee) to the 
31 March 2019.  He drew the Committee’s attention to the current funding being 
provided from the partner contributions and identified that there was a carried 
forward balance as at 31 March 2019 of £99,871. 
 
He also stated, that on the basis he expected the main City Deal grant funding from 
both Governments to start flowing in 2019-2020 that there would be a requirement to 
produce a full Statement of Accounts for this year. 
 
Jason Garcia of the Wales Audit Office then presented his Audit report in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 12 and Section 14 of the Public Audit 
(Wales) Act 2004.  He confirmed that on the basis of their review, in their opinion, the 
information contained in the Annual Return was in accordance with proper practices 
and no matters had come to their attention giving cause for concern that relevant 
legislation and regulatory requirements have not been met.  He did however state 
that the Auditor General for Wales had made the following two recommendations: 

Page 2



Minutes of the Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee (10.09.2019) 
Cont’d 

 

 
1) Going forward the joint Committee will need to review the robustness of these 

new governance arrangements to ensure they are operating effectively; 
 
2) An Officer Group needs to be established to agree what income, expenditure, 

assets and liabilities are included in future year’s Committee financial 
statements”. 

 
Jason Garcia (WAO) responded to questions of an audit nature whilst Chris Moore 
(Joint Committee Section 151 Officer) responded to questions relating to the position 
of the Swansea Bay City Region. 
 
The Committee indicated that it was content with both recommendations, however it 
would seek to utilise an existing Group such as the SBCR Section 151 Officer Group 
(as per the Joint Agreement) and the Programme Board to meet the requirement of 
the second recommendation above. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
1) The Joint Committee approve the 2018-2019 post-audited accounts and Annual 

Return of the Swansea Bay City Deal, to comply with the Accounts and Audit 
(Wales) Regulations 2014. 

 
 
 
The meeting ended at 1.45 pm 
 
 

Chair 
 

Page 3



 

 
 

Swansea Bay City Deal Joint Committee – 29 October 2019 
 

Project Issue Log and Programme Risk Register 

 

Purpose: To consider current project issues and immediate 
SBCD programme risks. 
 

Policy Framework: Swansea Bay City Deal. 
 

Consultation: Project leads 
Programme Board 

 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

 
1) Joint Committee are informed of the latest project issues and 

programme risks. 
  
Report Author: Helen Morgan, Regional Office, SBCD 
Finance Officer: Chris Moore, Section 151 Officer, SBCD 
Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith, Monitoring Officer, SBCD 
Access to Services Officer:  

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Joint Committee requested that project issue logs and SBCD 

Programme Risks be submitted to each meeting of the Joint Committee 
for consideration. 

 
2. SBCD Project Issues Log 
 
2.1 Any risks which pose a potentially significant or immediate risk to the 

overall City Deal programme and/or project delivery will be highlighted 
and escalated to the Joint Committee via the monthly project issues log 
(attached). The issues log captures the most current position and will be 
updated and submitted to Programme Board and Joint Committee on a 
monthly basis. 

 

Page 4

Agenda Item 7



3. SBCD Programme Risk Register 
 
3.1 A detailed Programme Risk Register has been developed for the 

Swansea Bay City Deal Programme and will be managed, revised and 
updated by the Regional Office. The risk register will be updated on a 
quarterly basis or as otherwise required. The Programme Board will 
review the risk register at each Programme Board meeting and escalate 
key risks to the attention of Joint Committee via a risk register summary 
(attached) which will be tabled at every Joint Committee meeting. 

 
3.2 Each Swansea Bay City Deal project will carry its associated risks which 

will be mitigated throughout the application and delivery process.  A 
detailed risk analysis will be undertaken for all projects by the Project 
Delivery Lead as part of the development of the 5 case business model 
process, with a project specific Risk Register established to assist in the 
ongoing management and mitigation of all risks. These will be available 
to Joint Committee as project business cases develop. 

 
4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
 
Background Papers: None 
 
Appendices: 

Appendix A Project Issue Log & Summary Risk Register 

 

Page 5



 

Page 1 of 3  

 

 

SBCD Project Issue Log – October 2019 
 
The project issue log highlights current pressing issues and risks currently or potentially have a significant or immediate affect to overall City Deal programme and/or project delivery including delays to project 
development, implementation or achievement of outcomes for example. The issue log should be considered alongside the wider project risk register (where available) and the SBCD programme risk register.  
 

Skills and Talent 

Issue Description Owner Implications 
Action / Update 

Business Case 
Development 

A considerable amount of work has already 
been undertaken to identify the skills needs 
but we cannot move ahead further without 
the commitment of funding. Working with 
new Government officials on a revised 
approach to business planning  

WG / 
UKG 

Delay in business case / funding approval 
will mean that the skills training required 
for other projects who have received 
approval may not be progressed or 
progressed at risk.  

 

 
 

Digital Infrastructure 

Issue Description Owner Implications Action / Update 

Project management 
resource 

Dedicated digital project manager is 
required. Identified project leads in each of 
the partner organisations is also required.   

Project 
lead 
authority 

Pace of delivery will be compromised 
without a digital project manager.  

Currently no resource available. 

Changes in UK 
Government Policy 

Government policy will possibly be 
substantially enhanced following pre-PM 
announcements from Boris Johnson.  

Mike 
Galvin 

This will impact the Digital Project, and 
possibly impact the existing business 
case. 

It is a case of staying close to the UK government actions and announcements on this 
and see how/if broadband policy and funding arrangements change. Currently the pre 
prime minister appointment statements from Boris Johnson are aspirational and the 
reality of any changes, especially around funding, are yet to be seen.   

 

Swansea Waterfront and Digital District 

Issue Description Owner Implications Action / Update 

Funding approval 
Approval of Council funding is dependent 
on Government sign off of City Deal 
business case.  

SBCD / 
UKG / 
WG 

Delay to approval of City Deal funding 
will impact on the delivery timescales for 
the projects 

Announcement of business case approval in principle on 15th July 2019.  
Awaiting full details of approval to be communicated.  terms and conditions.  

Terms and Conditions 

The approval of the initial funding is subject 
to terms and conditions, but these terms 
and conditions have not yet been provided 
by Governments 

Swansea 
Council / 
UKG / 
WG 

Unable to finalise the funding package 
and seek approval of final funding 
package from Cabinet without terms and 
conditions. 

Terms and conditions to be provided by Government 

 

Key 
New Issue 

Resolved since last update 

Ongoing Issues 
 

P
age 6



 

Page 2 of 3  

Yr Egin - Creative Digital Cluster 

Issue Description Owner Implications Action / Update 

Funding approval 
Yr Egin phase one has been completed and 
is fully occupied 

SBCD 
/ UKG 
/ WG 

Delay in approval of City Deal funding will 
increasingly impact on project delivery 
timetable for phase 2.  

Announcement of business case approval in principle on 15th July 2019.  
Awaiting terms and conditions. 

 
 

Centre of Excellence in Next Generation Services (CENGS) 

Issue Description Owner Implications Action / Update 

Outstanding funding 
approval 

£3m ERDF secured as match funding.  
Deadline of Dec 2022 to spend the ERDF 

GN Risk to European funding Technology Centre is identified in the revised programme business case ‘Supporting 
Innovation and Low Carbon Growth’ to be reviewed by the City Deal Economic Strategy 
Board and Joint Committee. 
Policy workshop with UKG and WG held on 6/9/19 – NPT to address areas raised and 
revise business case. Follow up workshop proposed for end of October 
 

 
 

Life Science and Well-being Campuses 

Issue Description Owner Implications Action / Update 

None reported as at 11 
October 2019 

   
 

 
 

Life Science and Well-being Village 

Issue Description Owner Implications Action / Update 

Delay in phase 1 funding 
Funding for phase 1 will need to be confirmed in line 
with procurement of a construction contractor. 

Project lead  
Potential delay in September 2021 ‘go 
live’ date for education, skills and training 
components. 

Chair of Joint Committee confirmed at JC 
meeting on 28th March 2019 that no City Deal 
project is on hold following completion of 
reviews. 
Revised business case informally reviewed by 
ESB in July 2019.  

Full Business Case 
(FBC) 

Delay in confirming higher education partner Project lead Delay of City Deal FBC submission, with 
consequential impact on programme  

Discussions held with higher education 
partners. Letter of intent sought. 

General Election General Election is called prior to, or following, the 
UK’s proposed departure from the EU (currently 
31st October 2019). 

Project lead Purdah is enforced, deferring the 
approval and/or funding process for City 
Deal projects 

It is aimed to submit the FBC to Economic 
Strategy Board and Joint Committee in 
October. 

Project investment Investment from financial market not realised or 
maximised 

Project lead Full scope of project not realised. 
Potential impact on benefits realisation. 

Financial appraisal of the project has been 
undertaken and confirms the investability with 
reasonable confidence of the whole project. 
Information Memorandum compiled and will be 
issued to a shortlist of financial institutions to 
seek expressions of interest.  

Adverse media Ongoing investigation generates negative PR Project lead Negative impact on how the project is 
perceived 

The Council is cooperating fully with the 
investigators. 

P
age 7



 

Page 3 of 3  

 
 

Homes as Power Stations 

Issue Description Owner Implications Action / Update 

Funding approval 

Funding assurance required to support 
match funding bids for ERDF and IHP 
funding 

SBCD 
/ UKG 
/ WG 

Until formal approval of City Deal 
business case is received project can 
only provide assurance in principle which 
may pose a risk to securing match 
funding 

Workshop held with UK and Welsh Government in July 2019. Agreed next steps to 
progress business case for formal submission in mid Autumn.  

 
 

Pembroke Dock Marine 

Issue Description Owner Implications Action / Update 

NNDR 
Clarity required on NNDR arrangements 
specifically how NNDR will be apportioned 

Acc. 
Body / 
Project 
authority 
lead 

Project viability is subject to discussions 
relating to NNDR  

SBCD Section 151 in discussion with UK and Welsh Government.  
Meeting to be convened between Leaders and Chief Executives to discuss.   

Project delivery 
timescale 

Clarity required on when the five year 
delivery period begins 

JC 
Will ensure project implementation and 
benefits realisation timescales are 
accurate.  

To be considered by Joint Committee. 

!!! Funding / borrowing 
There has been no recognisable progress 
towards resolving the funding / borrowing 
for the project  

Project 
lead, 
project 
lead 
authority, 
SBCD, 
UKG & 
WG 

The lack of resolution of this one issue is 
putting the entire Pembroke Dock Marine 
project in jeopardy. Other sources of 
funding including circa £16m ERDF are 
time limited and due to the ongoing delay 
there is a very high risk this will be lost. 

Pembroke Dock Marine project identified as a Tranche 2 project for development at Joint 
Committee on 28th March 2019. 
 
We and our project partners continue to undertake significant work at risk in order to 
mitigate the effect of the delay. 
 
Several discussions have taken place to address the funding gap for the project.  

 
 

Factory of the Future 

Issue Description Owner Implications Action / Update 

 
 

Steel Science 

Issue Description Owner Implications Action / Update 

 

P
age 8



Original Assessment:- MARCH 2018                             Latest Review 

Date:- OCT 2019

This summary details the risks which pose the most pressing potential challenges to deliveyr of the City Deal Programme. 

The summary provides a snapshot in time.

Full details of all programme risks are detailed in the individual tabs and should be considered alongside this summary

R
is

k
 G

ro
u

p

R
is

k
 

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

C
a
te

g
o

ry

O
w

n
e
r

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

C
o

n
s
e
q

u
e
n

c
e

In
h

e
re

n
t 

P
ro

b
a
b

il
it

y

In
h

e
re

n
t 

Im
p

a
c
t

In
h

e
re

n
t 

R
a
n

k

L
a
te

s
t 

R
e
v
ie

w
 D

a
te

L
a
te

s
t 

U
p

d
a
te

/C
o

n
tr

o
l 
A

c
ti

o
n

s

C
u

rr
e
n

t 

P
ro

b
a
b

il
it

y

C
u

rr
e
n

t 

Im
p

a
c
t

C
u

rr
e
n

t 
R

a
n

k

D
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

ta
l 

Delay in approval of JCA
C6                

C14 
All

Unable to formally establish governance 

structures.  Unable to draw down city deal 

funding. Unable to sign off project business 

cases.  Risk of withdrawal of local authority / 

other partner from City Deal (see risks 

below)

3 5 21.10.19

Further to the findings and recommendations of the two SBCD reviews changes to the JCA have been made. 

The revised JCA has been considered and approved by all four Authorities. The revised JCA must also be 

agreed by both Governments which may delay the process. 
3 2

Slippage in delivery of programme 
C6                                   

C14
JC

City Deal doesn't achieve the outcomes 

intended within the timescales agreed. 

Borrowing and recouperation does not 

accurately reflect spend 

4 4 21.10.19

Both independent and internal reviews have been completed and action plan agreed to take forward the 

recommendations which has been accepted by SBCD Joint Committee. Implementation of the recommendations 

will require changes to existing procedures and may result in delays in programme delivery and project approvals 

for tranche two projects if these cannot be achieved quickly. Both Governments have confirmed that no project 

approvals, beyond those for Yr Egin and Digital District, will be granted until the Actica review recommendations 

have been implemented. Recruitment process for the appointment of the Programme Director is well underway 

and a Joint appointments panel has been established. The revised JCA has been approved by all four 

Authorities. The appointments process for the recruitment of specialist advisors to the ESB is also well underway. 

3 2

Business case is not approved / project 

falls

C3          

C11 

RPAL / 

Delivery 

Lead

Project unable to proceed 3 5 01.July.19

Further to findings of the SBCD reviews a number of projects have been reviewed and substituted for an 

alternative scheme. This reflects recommendations of the SBCD reviews to increase flexibility of the programme. 

In addition outstanding issues around the funding package pose a  threat to the Pembroke Dock Marine project in 

particular and if this continues to be unresolved the project may not be able to meet the required start date of their 

match funders. This may result in the project being unable to deliver certain elements as planned / at all. Control 

actions are as previous update. 

3 4

Change in project scope pre-business 

case approval

C11              

C6

Delivery 

lead

Project no longer requires same amount of 

funding. Project no longer achieves the 

necessary outcomes required for City Deal 

funding. Project is not approved and 

therefore unable to proceed / proceed as 

planned. 

4 4 21.10.19

Change in scope of the Pembroke Dock Marine project has been approved by Joint Committee.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

Further to findings of the SBCD reviews some projects have been reviewed. This reflects recommendations of 

the SBCD reviews to increase flexibility of the programme. Any changes in scope will following the agreed review 

process as detailed in the JCA. Control actions are as per previous update. 

3 4

Delay in development of business plans
C11           

C14

RPAL / 

Delivery 

Lead

Delay in project start.  Depending on critical 

timescale could impact projects ability to 

deliver proposed outcomes. Potential knock 

on affect for other projects ability to deliver 

and achieve outcomes.                                                       

5 3 21.10.19

Two projects have been formally approved - Swansea Waterfront and Yr Egin subject to terms and conditions 

being received by Governments. A second tranche of projects are currently being progressed.  In addition it has 

been agreed with both Governments that an independent peer review be undertaken at a regional level prior to 

formal submission of business cases to Governments. This will provide a quicker and more effective process for 

all parties going forward which should reduce time required to develop business cases to an appropriate 

standard. 

3 3

Delay in approval of business plans C11

PAL / RO 

/ JC / 

Govs

Delay in project start.  Depending on critical 

timescale could impact projects ability to 

deliver proposed outcomes. Potential knock 

on affect for other projects ability to deliver 

and achieve outcomes.                                                       

3 4 21.10.19

Further to findings of the SBCD reviews changes are required to the processes by which business cases are 

approved. Whilst this will not delay approval of tranche 1 projects it could potentially have an impact on the 

approval of future tranches of projects.

3 3

Failure to agree NNDR (rates retention) 

flexibility
C3

Accounta

ble Body

Local authorities unable to borrow required 

for projects 
4 5

21.10.19

In-principle letter received from Cabinet Secretary stating intention to initiate arrangements to allow the region to 

retain 50% of the additional net yeild in non-domestic rates generated by the 11 projects. Section 151 officers 

working up a proposal, so the mechanics and alloaction is acceptable to all.

3 3

Swansea Bay City Deal Programme Risk Register

Summary - Immediate Risks

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

P
age 9



Timeframe for end of current EU funding 

programmes
C3 All

Unable to deliver full funding package at 

both project and programme level. 
3 3

21.10.19

Completion date for EU funded projects mid 2023 at the latest with all expenditure to be paid out by this date. 

This increases pressure to begin delivery of EU funded projects including those under the City Deal. Without City 

Deal sign off this may not be possible. Therefore timely approval of relevant projectsi.e. Pembroke Dock Marine 

and Supporting Innovation and Low Carbon Growth projects  is essential to mitigating this risk. 

3 4
Fi

n
an

ci
al

 

P
age 10



 

 
 

Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee – 29 October 2019 
 

Financial Monitoring Report 2019/20 –  
Swansea Bay City Deal Outturn Position 

 

Purpose: The purpose of this report is to inform the Joint 
Committee of the year end outturn position in 
respect of the PMO, Accountable Body and Joint 
Committee administration functions. 
 

Policy Framework: Swansea Bay City Deal. 
 

Consultation: Accountable Body 
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

 
1) The Joint Committee review the annual accounts of the Swansea Bay 

City Deal. 
  
Report Author: Chris Moore 
Finance Officer: Chris Moore, Section 151 Officer, SBCD 
Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith, Monitoring Officer, SBCD 
Access to Services Officer:  

 
1) Introduction 
 
1.1 This report details the projected outturn position of the Programme 

Management Office, Accountable Body and Joint Committee functions of 
the City Deal Programme. 

 
1.2 The Financial Monitoring Report presents the City Deal Accounts in a 

detailed format, in line with the Carmarthenshire County Council’s financial 
management system. The outturn position demonstrates the forecasted 
current financial year end position, as at August 2019. 

 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



2. Financial Monitoring Report – Income and Expenditure 
 
2.1. Supplementary Information 
 
2.1.1 The outturn position excludes any top slice of Government Grants in 

terms of income. Any contribution from Government grants received 
within the financial year will be transferred to a ring-fenced reserve at 
year end, for utilisation in future years. 

 
2.1.2 On receipt of government grants, 1.5% (£723k) of this will be utilised to 

support the PMO and the direct administration functions of the 
Programme. There is no requirement to call on this additional 
contribution by the end of this financial year. Consideration will be 
required as to whether the additional contribution within this financial year 
is to be used in another manner, or distributed back to projects. 

 
2.1.3 The Programme Director has an assumed commencement date of 01st 

January 2020, therefore only salary expenditure in respect of one quarter 
(quarter 4 2019/20) has been included within the accounts. 

 
2.1.4 An annual interim budget was agreed (JC - 30th July 2019) for the 

current financial year (2019/20). Included within is an agreement 
between the four Local Authority partners to individually absorb indirect 
costs associated with the provision of key allocated functions, thus 
bequeathing a benefit to the programme in respect of reduced 
centralised costs of £792k. These indirect costs have been omitted for 
the full year (Appendix 2).  

 
2.2. Programme Management Office 
 
2.2.1 To the period ended 31st March 2019 the expenditure forecast position is 

£274k. At present the PMO is not fully staffed, only two positions have 
been appointed into, with further support being provided by staff employed 
by CCC. Direct staffing costs are estimated at £118k (including one quarter 
of a programme director) with recharges in relation to CCC support staff 
being estimated at £105k. Other costs include office rental of £22k, 
Projects and Activities £5k and fees £10k.  

 
2.3. Accountable Body 
 
2.3.1 The Accountable Body yearend position is estimated at £69k. This is 

attributable to one staff member and the annual external audit fee. This 
has increased from 2018/19 due to the requirement (if grant receipted) to 
produce a full set of financial statements.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



2.4. Joint Committee 
 
2.4.1 The Joint Committee expenditure forecast relates solely to legal fees in 

respect of amendments to the JCA and funding agreements. This has 
been estimated at £25k. 

 
2.5. Joint Scrutiny Committee 
 
2.5.1 No costs have been incurred in respect of the Joint Scrutiny Committee, 

as this will be funded as a benefit in kind by Neath Port Talbot County 
Borough Council. 

 
2.6. Income 
 
2.6.1 Total income for the year demonstrates £350k. This is solely from partner 

contributions (£50k per partner). One Co-opt partner’s contribution has 
been omitted with clarification sought as to their position within the City 
Deal programme. 

 
3. Financial Monitoring - Statement of Balances 
 
3.1. The prior year (2018/19) balance carried forward in reserve demonstrates 

£100k. Currently the estimated year end position of the City Deal accounts 
resides at a deficit of £19k, this will be offset via the City Deal reserve at 
year end, taking the total reserve figure to £80k. 

 
3.2. Debtor amounts represent the contributions outstanding from partners to 

the programme. As at the 6th October 2019 the outstanding balances 
amount to £75k. 

 
 
Appendices: These will be included within the report. 

Appendix A Swansea Bay City Deal – Financial 
Monitoring Report 2019/20 

Appendix B Breakdown of Benefit in Kind 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 13



Appendix A 

 
 
 

Swansea Bay City Deal

Financial Monitoring Report
For the period ended 31st March 2020

Actuals Interim Budget* Forecast Variance

2018/19 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20

£ £ £ £

Programme Management Office

Pay - NJC 65,284              350,696                     118,002             232,694

Recharges - Employee costs Grant (direct) 182,617           -                              106,238             (106,238)

National Insurance 6,878                36,483                        3,416                  33,067

Superannuation 11,621              62,424                        5,749                  56,675

Apprentice Levy 326                    -                              160                     (160)

Training of Staff -                    15,000                        -                      15,000

Rents General 13,648              15,450                        15,450               0

National Non Domestic Rates -                    -                              6,575                  (6,575)

Electricity -                    2,472                          -                      2,472

Gas -                    618                              -                      618

Response Maintenance 630                    500                              -                      500

Public Transport - Staff 21                      1,800                          -                      1,800

Staff Travelling Expenses 1,575                17,820                        2,536                  15,284

Admin, Office & Operational Consumables 16,738              1,000                          -                      1,000

Printing & Copying -                    1,000                          200                     800

Fees (Monitoring & Evaluation) -                    10,000                        10,000               0

Translation/Interpret Services 819                    10,000                        -                      10,000

ICTs & Computer Hardware -                    10,000                        -                      10,000

Subsistence & Meetings Expenses 717                    1,000                          213                     787

Promotions, Marketing & Advertising 47,404              100,000                     1,592                  98,408

Projects & Activities Expenditure -                    60,000                        5,000                  55,000

Photocopying Recharge 77                      -                              57                        (57)

Furniture -                    10,500                        -                      10,500

Total Programme Management Office Expenditure 348,355           706,763                     275,188             431,575

Accountable Body

Pay - NJC -                    77,471                        40,832               36,639

Recharges - Employee costs Grant (direct) 100,349           -                              -                      0

National Insurance -                    8,309                          1,216                  7,093

Superannuation -                    13,790                        2,103                  11,687

Apprentice Levy -                    -                              58                        (58)

Staff Recruitment Expenses 597                    -                      0

Audit Fee (Wales Audit Office) 10,000              25,000                        25,000               0

Total Accountable Body Expenditure 110,946           124,570                     69,209               55,361

Joint Committee

Admin, Office & Operational Consumables -                    -                              -                      0

Legal Fees 3,671                25,000                        25,000               0

Subsistence & Meetings Expenses 726                    -                              -                      0

Total Joint Committee Expenditure 4,397                25,000                        25,000               0

Joint Scrutiny Committee

Subsistence & Meetings Expenses 7,611                -                              -                      0

Total Joint Scrutiny Committee Expenditure 7,611                -                              -                      0

Total Expenditure 471,308           856,333                     369,397             486,936

Funding Contributions

SBCD Programme Contribution (top slice 1.5%)** -                    723,000                     -                      (723,000)

Government Grants - WAG 57,632              -                              -                      0

Partner Contributions  (LA & Co-Opt) 400,000           400,000                     350,000             (50,000)

Total Income 457,632           1,123,000                  350,000             (773,000)

Net Annual Total - Surplus/(Deficit) (13,676) 266,667                     (19,397) (286,064)

*As agreed by Joint Committee - 30th July 2019.

**Ommitted 'Top Slice' element due to no grant being received to date. 

Movement to Reserves

Description 2018/19 2019/20

Balance Brought Forward  from previous year 113,547           99,871

Appropriation/Contribution To Ring-fenced City Deal Reserve (13,676) (19,397)

Balance Carry Forward 99,871              80,474

Description

Page 14



Appendix B 
Breakdown of Benefit in Kind 

 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Total

Carmarthenshire

Finance Services Support (Section 151 Officer) 54,244 54,244 54,244 54,244 216,976

Total 54,244 54,244 54,244 54,244 216,976

Pembrokeshire

Audit Support Function (Internal Audit Fees) 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 60,000

Total 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 60,000

Swansea

Legal and Democratic Support (inclusive of Monitoring Officer) 103,849 103,849 103,849 103,849 415,398

Total 103,849 103,849 103,849 103,849 415,398

Neath Port Talbot

Joint Committee 

Room Hire 1,890 1,890 1,890 1,890 7,560

Meeting Expenses 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 4,800

Travel 1,800 1,800 1,800 1,800 7,200

Joint Scrutny 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 80,000

Total 24,890 24,890 24,890 24,890 99,560

Total Absorbed Cost 197,984 197,984 197,984 197,984 791,934

Page 15



 

 
 

Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee – 29 October 2019 
 

Additional Resource Funding Proposal 
 

Purpose: To seek approval of the Joint Committee to 
develop a detailed proposal for expenditure of 
additional resource funding from Welsh 
Government in accordance with the outline 
proposal provided in this report.  
 

Policy Framework: Swansea Bay City Deal 
 

Consultation: Programme Board 
Welsh Government 

 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

 
1) Joint Committee authorise the Programme Board to develop detailed 

proposals for the expenditure of additional resource funding from 
Welsh Government 

2) Proposals for the expenditure of additional resource funding from 
Welsh Government be based on the achievement of the three key 
objectives as detailed in this report 

3) That the Joint Committee submit the outline proposal detailed in this 
report to UK and Welsh Government for endorsement 

 
Report Author: Helen Morgan, Regional Office 
Finance Officer: Chris Moore, Section 151 Officer, SBCD 
Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith, Monitoring Officer, SBCD 
Access to Services Officer:  

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 On 15th July 2019 the UK and Welsh Governments announced the release 

of £18m of City Deal funding based on the approval of business cases for 
the Yr Egin and Swansea City and Waterfront Digital District projects and 
subject to project specific terms and conditions being agreed.  

Page 16

Agenda Item 9



 
1.2 At the same time Governments also announced that a further £18m may 

also be available this year for other projects within the City Deal. Release 
of this additional £18m is subject to the region meeting clear terms and 
conditions which will relate to the implementation of the recommendations 
of the Swansea Bay City Deal Independent Review.  

 
1.3 In order to assist the region in meeting these terms and conditions in a 

prompt manner, the Welsh Government have made an additional £100k of 
funding available to the region.  

 
2. Key facts: 
 

 Revenue funding 

 Total = £100k 

 deadline - 31st March 2020 
 
2.1 What the money can be used for: 
 
2.1.1 The funding is available to the region for additional resources which will 

ensure achievement of the recommendations made in the Independent 
ACTICA review of the Swansea Bay City Deal and any other terms and 
conditions associated with the release of a second tranche of £18m City 
Deal money.  

 
2.1.2 The additional £100k is intended “to compliment the money already being 

spent in the region to implement the recommendations of the Independent 
Review to manage the City Deal as a Portfolio and to develop an 
Integrated Assurance and Approval Plan. This will support a stocktake of 
the remaining deal projects ensuring the region’s readiness for city deal 
and joint strategic authority delivery.”  

 
2.2 What the money cannot be used for: 
 
2.2.1 Welsh Government have clearly noted that the additional funding cannot 

be used for any of the following activity: 
 

 To fund existing resources 

 To fund existing work 

 To fund the salary of the new Programme Director  

 To fund the salaries of the new Portfolio Management Office 
 
2.3 Proposal: 
 
2.3.1 It is proposed that the additional resource funding of £100k be used to fulfil 

the following objectives; 
 
 (i) Undertaking of peer reviews: 

Both Governments have suggested that an independent better business 
case accredited consultant be appointed to informally review draft 

Page 17



business cases for all City Deal projects before they are formally submitted 
to Governments for formal review. This process would replace the 
previous iterative review process with both Governments and is intended 
to speed up the appraisal process. It is proposed that the same consultant 
is appointed to conduct peer reviews across all forthcoming City Deal 
projects to ensure consistency across the programme.  

 
 (ii) Development of an Integrated Assurance Framework for the City Deal: 

Recommendation 3 of the ACTICA SBCD Review requires that an 
Integrated Assurance and Approval Framework (IAAP) be established in 
order to support the management of the City Deal as a portfolio of projects. 
It is proposed that the additional £100k of resource funding be used to fund 
a consultant to undertake the development of the IAAP which will also feed 
in to monitoring and evaluation plans.  

 
 (iii) Stock take of the City Deal programme: 

In order to gain a clear perspective of the readiness of the current City 
Deal programme it is proposed that the additional £100k of resource 
funding be used to fund a consultant to conduct a stock date of the entire 
programme. The findings of this stock take can then be used by the newly 
appointed Programme Director and existing SBCD Governance structures 
to help ensure the City Deal is managed as a portfolio and to strengthen 
joint strategic delivery.  

 
2.4 How: 

 
2.4.1 The SBCD will look to utilise opportunities to call off Welsh Government’s 

existing frameworks to allow swift appointment of appropriate consultants. 
This is particularly important in the case of the Peer review activity so as 
to prevent potential delays in the approval of projects which are coming 
forward in the next few months. The Programme Board will also consider 
whether the development of the IAAP and the stock take activity can be 
delivered as one contract award.  

 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 The £100k funding must be spent by 31st March 2020.  
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 The procurement of a Consultant/s must comply with all relevant 

procurement legislation and the standing orders/Contract Procedure Rules 
of the employing authority. The procurement route highlighted in 
paragraph 2.4.1 above should satisfy these requirements. 

 
Background Papers:   
 
- ACTICA Independent Review Report January 2019 
- Internal SBCD Review Report January 2019 

Page 18



 

 
 

Report of the Chief Executive (Neath Port Talbot Council) 
 

Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee – 29 October 2019 
 

Establish a Transport Sub Committee 

 

Purpose: To establish a formal subcommittee of the City 
Region Joint Committee to take an overview of 
transport issues and develop the first stage of 
proposals to take forward the Swansea Bay Metro 
proposition. 
 

Policy Framework: None. 
 

Consultation: All 4 Chief Executives, Joint Committee 
Monitoring Officer & Joint Committee Section 151 
Officer. 

 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

 
1) The Joint Committee formally establish a sub-committee with a 

specific remit on transport, to consist of Cabinet Members or their 
nominees from the four constituent authorities with relevant officer 
support; 

  
2) In the short term, the sub-committee oversee the completion of a 

proposition to be put to Welsh Ministers and other stakeholders 
outlining the region’s priorities for stage one of the Metro project and 
related programmes. This work should draw on existing funding 
streams (circa £200,000) and sign off a proposal by 31 March 2020; 
 

3) The Joint Committee request that specific Terms of Reference are 
drawn up for approval at the November meeting  to achieve (2) above; 

  
4) If recommendations 1-3 above are agreed, that the Chair of the Joint 

Committee formally write to Ministers to notify them of our intentions. 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 10



Report Author: Steven Phillips 
Finance Officer: Chris Moore 
Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith 
Access to Services Officer: N / A 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 To establish a formal subcommittee of the City Region Joint Committee 

to take an overview of transport issues and develop the first stage of 
proposals to take forward the Swansea Bay Metro proposition. 

 
2. Background 
 
2.1 The Swansea Bay City Deal governance structure does not currently 
include a specific transport strand. However, at an earlier stage (when in 
shadow form) the Joint Committee recognised that transport and related 
infrastructure would be key to future growth prospects in the region and a vitally 
important adjunct to the projects covered by the Deal, so as to ensure maximum 
benefit. 
 
2.2 It is therefore timely for this and a number of other reasons (see below) 

to return to the issue. These overlapping dynamics include: 
 

i) The Welsh Government developing legislative proposals in the 
context of the Public Transport (Wales) Bill which will cover many 
of these issues – work has already begun in terms of reforming 
key components of the wider system e.g. concessionary fares; 

 
ii) A separate proposal from Ministers on local government reform, 

expected imminently (and to be followed by legislation), that is 
near certain to include proposals for statutory Corporate Joint 
Committees in four areas – one of which is transport; 

 
iii) Professor Mark Barry’s commission from the Welsh Government 

to develop proposals for a Metro system for the region, which has 
been the subject of discussion in the Joint Committee. There is 
further analysis to be done; but a broad recognition that the rail 
proposals form a “backbone” to the transport proposal and that 
any proposition must reflect regional connectivity. This would 
effectively be a first/preliminary stage of the Regional Metro. 
However, whilst Professor Barry’s work concentrates on rail, there 
is a wider transport agenda to be considered including bus 
services, wider public transport system, active travel, highway 
infrastructure and other matters; 

 
iv) It is likely that further powers on rail will be devolved to the Welsh 

Government from Westminster in the short term. There also 
seems to be far more engagement on offer from the likes of the 
UK Government and others than previously; 

 

Page 20



v) Whilst this is a long term agenda, it is also important that the 
region move beyond high level aspirations into the arena of 
specific proposals – not another strategy per se - for an initial 
phase of a comprehensive approach to transport in the region. 
The current proposals put forward for Velindre Parkway are 
welcome in principle but now needs to be considered as part of 
the wider strategic picture for the Region; and 

 
vi) It will be necessary to define roles and responsibilities so as to 

ensure that there is no duplication of effort. Informal contacts with 
the Welsh Government suggest that the basic approach would be 
for the region to define strategic priorities and Transport for Wales 
to act as the delivery arm. However, further discussion between 
stakeholders is necessary. 

 
 
Background Papers: None. 
Appendices: None 
 
  
  

 

Page 21



 

 
 

Report of the Director of Corporate Services (Carmarthenshire Council) & 
Section 151 Officer (SBCR) 

 
Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee – 29 October 2019 

 

Cash Flow and Grant Profile Summary 

 

Purpose: The purpose of this report is to inform Joint 
Committee of the recommendations submitted by 
the Programme Section 151 Officer, in respect of 
programme cash surpluses, programme lending 
and support for the delivery of the PDM project. 
 

Policy Framework: Swansea Bay City Deal. 
 

Consultation: Accountable Body, Programme Board. 
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

 
1) The Joint Committee review the scenario analysis undertaken, 

evaluating the financial support that can be provided to 
Pembrokeshire County Council in delivering the PDM project; 
 

2) The Joint Committee consider the recommendations put forward by 
the Programme Section 151 Officer (in consultation with Regional 
Section 151 Officer’s), to support Lead Authorities with financial 
pressures borne in delivering projects within the Programme. 

  
Report Author: Chris Moore 
Finance Officer: Chris Moore, Section 151 Officer, SBCD 
Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith, Monitoring Officer, SBCD 
Access to Services Officer: N / A 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 22

Agenda Item 11



Introduction 
 

This report outlines the cash flow and grant profiling analysis undertaken, 
defining the different modelling and assumptions adopted within the 
scenarios demonstrated. Detailed within are the assumptions used in 
compiling the analysis undertaken and explanation in respect of the 
varying models presented. 

 
1. Cash Flow Analysis 
 
1.1 Base Funding Agreement - Fifteen Year Grant Profile (as per JCA) 
 
1.2 The funding profile is based on the current agreement in place as per the 

terms of the JCA, releasing funding to the projects proportionately over a 
15 year term. The grant receipt profile has been adjusted following 
discussions with Welsh Government to reflect their intended profile which 
is based on front loading grant in the first two years, with the balance 
over the remaining 13 years (£18m year 1 and 2, and £15.5m thereafter). 
The funding profiles have been amended to align to this adjusted grant 
receipt profile. 

 
1.3 The LS and WB Campus project (lead by the City and County of 

Swansea) is profiled to incur the majority of expenditure in the latter 
years of the programme term, this directly concludes in a consistent 
surplus balance of £3m projected throughout the programme’s 15 year 
duration. 

 
1.4 Desirable Grant Profile 
 
1.5 The funding profile for this model is based on the current agreement in 

place as per the terms of the JCA as noted above (1.1. Base Funding 
Agreement - Fifteen Year Grant Profile). 

 
1.6 Local Authorities were asked to submit a desired funding profile to review 

of the impact on the programme’s cash flow forecast. Due to the majority 
of projects incurring the expenditure within the first seven years of the 
programme term, the desired funding profile is heavily unbalanced, 
weighted towards the early years of the programme term. 

 
1.7 With the grant receipted as per the base agreement over a 15 year 

profile, this scenario concludes in a programme deficit at its peak of 
£116m in year 6, which will require financing through borrowing.  

 
1.8 Fifteen Year Grant Profile, with PDM Financed Over 5 Years  
 
1.9 This model is based on the original funding agreement as outlined above 

(1.1. Base Funding Agreement - Fifteen Year Grant Profile), with only 
one amendment in respect of the PDM project. All projects are aligned 
over a fifteen year funding profile, with the exception of the PDM project 
which is demonstrated over a reduced funding profile of five years.  

Page 23



 
1.10 Treating PDM as a special case, through fully funding the project over 

this reduced period of five years, financial strain is placed on the 
programme, resulting in a consistent deficit position, which at its peak 
concludes in a £13m shortfall in year 6. 

 
1.11 Fifteen Year Grant Profile, with PDM’s Grant Leveraged 
 
1.12 This model is based on the original funding agreement as outlined above 

(1. Base Funding Agreement - Fifteen Year Grant Profile), with only one 
amendment in respect of the PDM project. All projects are aligned over a 
fifteen year funding profile, with the exception of the PDM project which is 
front loaded, financing £11m to year 4, with the remaining grant balance 
funded equally over the remaining 11 year term. 

 
1.13 Due to the LS and WB Campus projects spend profile heavily 

concentrated in the latter years of the programme, a surplus balance is 
consistently projected throughout the term of the programme. This 
balance along with the accrued income from the delay in receipt of 
Government grants can absorb this arrangement. 

 
1.14 Treating PDM as a special case, leveraging funds over 4 years, the 

programme slips in to a very minor deficit which can be managed 
naturally as projects drift. 

 
1.15 Through adopting this model, inequality within the programme is 

recognised, with all other projects aligned to the original base agreement 
terms, borrowing and incurring interest charges as projects demand. 
Furthermore it eradicates any potential income that could derive from 
investment opportunities of programme balances. 

 
2. Grant Profile Analysis 
 
2.1 Seven Year Grant Receipt Profile 
 
2.2 The funding profile is based on the provided expenditure profiles with the 

grant receipt profile being adjusted to reflect grant receipted over seven 
years. The grant receipt profile has been adjusted following discussions 
with Welsh Government to reflect their intended profile which is based on 
front loading grant in the first two years, with the full balance then 
demonstrated as being equally receipted over the remaining 5 years 
(£18m in year 1 and 2, and £40m thereafter).  

 
2.3 This grant receipt profile would require both Governments to increase 

their annual grant award by £25m per annum over a 5 year period. If this 
profile was accepted, distributing the grant based on the expenditure 
profiles would result in a programme deficit, with year 4 being the highest 
point of £48m. 

 
 

Page 24



2.4 Ten Year Grant Receipt Profile 
 
2.5 The funding profile is based on the provided expenditure profiles with the 

grant receipt profile being adjusted to reflect grant receipted over ten 
years. The grant receipt profile has been adjusted following discussions 
with Welsh Government to reflect their intended profile which is based on 
front loading grant in the first two years, with the full balance then 
demonstrated as being equally receipted over the remaining 8 years 
(£18m in year 1 and 2, and £25m thereafter).  

 
2.6 This grant receipt profile would require both Governments to increase 

their annual grant award by £10m per annum over an 8 year period. If 
this profile was accepted, distributing the grant based on the expenditure 
profiles would still result in a programme deficit, with year 5 being the 
highest point of £90m. 

 
3. Assumptions 
 
3.1 Cashflow Assumptions 
 
i) All the returns received demonstrated expenditure matching the full grant 

amount, these have been adjusted by a 1.5% reduction to reflect the ‘top 
slice’ required to fund the Programme Management Office. 

 
ii) Desirable Grant Profile includes the PDM project at full grant. Currently 

Pembrokeshire County Council are reviewing the affordability of the 1.5% 
top slice on the project. All other scenarios have been adjusted down to 
account for the top slice element. 

 
iii) The grant funding profiles have been aligned with spend incurrence. 
 
iv) It is assumed that business cases in respect of Phase 1 and 2 will be 

approved within this financial year (2019/20), with Phase 3 assuming 
approval in the next financial year (2020/21). 

 
v) The Life Science & Well Being Campus project expenditure profile is over 

15 years, all scenarios have been matched to this timescale. 
 
vi) Neath Port Talbot CBC’s revised projects demonstrate City Deal grant of 

£51m which is less than the original business case (and HoT) of £53m. 
The additional £2m has been included within the Swansea Bay 
Technology Centre project funding profile to ensure it is allocated to NPT 
and included within the programme. 

 
3.2 Grant Profile Assumptions 
 
i) Both Grant Profiles have been based on a funding profile reflecting the 

expenditure profiles provided. 
 

Page 25



ii) All the returns received demonstrated expenditure matching the full grant 
amount, these have been adjusted by a 1.5% reduction to reflect the ‘top 
slice’ required to fund the Programme Management Office. 

 
iii) The grant funding profiles have been aligned with spend incurrence. 
 
iv) It is assumed that business cases in respect of Phase 1 and 2 will be 

approved within this financial year (2019/20), with Phase 3 assuming 
approval in the next financial year (2020/21). 

 
v) The Life Science & Well Being Campus project expenditure profile is over 

15 years, all scenarios have been matched to this timescale. 
 
vi) Neath Port Talbot CBC’s revised projects demonstrate City Deal grant of 

£51m which is less than the original business case (and HoT) of £53m. 
The additional £2m has been included within the Swansea Bay 
Technology Centre project funding profile to ensure it is allocated to NPT 
and included within the programme. 

 
3.3 Assumed Project Business Case Approval Period 
 

 
 
4. Section 151 Officer Recommendations 
 
4.1 Meeting Scope 
 
4.1.1 All four regional Lead Authority Section 151 Officers convened (17th 

October 2019), with attendance from Welsh Government, to review the 
City Deal Programme cash flow forecast, the impact of reduced grant 
award profiles and review the cash flow concerns within the PDM project. 

 

Lead Authority Project

Assumed BC Approval 

(Financial Year)

City and County of Swansea Swansea District & Waterfront Digital District 2019/20

Carmarthenshire County Council Yr Egin 2019/20

Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council Swansea Bay Technology Centre 2019/20

Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council National Steel Innovation Centre 2019/20

Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council Decarbonisation 2019/20

Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council Industrial Futures Programme 2019/20

Regional Regional Homes as PowerStation's 2019/20

Carmarthenshire County Council Life Science and Wellbeing Village 2019/20

Pembrokeshire County Council Pembroke Dock Marine 2019/20

City and County of Swansea Life Science & Well Being Campus 2020/21

Regional Regional Skills and talent initiative 2020/21

Regional Regional Digital infrastructure 2020/21

Phase 1

Phase 2

Phase 3

Page 26



4.1.2 On reviewing all scenarios and profiles presented, recommendations 
were concluded, ensuring affordability of the programme throughout the 
15 year term, temporary cash surpluses are treated in an equal and 
objective manner and the PDM project is supported constructively 
without detriment placed on the delivery of the programme.  

 
4.2 Cashflow Recommendations 
 
i) Programme cash surpluses made available for lending to Lead 

Authorities. Lending offered on an annual basis (over 12 month term as 
required), subject to annual review. 

 
ii) An interest rate attached to any lending facilities engaged, based on a 

charge of the Bank of England base rate, plus 0.25%, as an annual 
percentage rate. 

 
iii) Programme cash surpluses not utilised in lending facilities, invested on 

behalf of the Programme by the Accountable Body and in line with the 
nominated Authorities Treasury Policy. 

 
iv) Income generated through Programme investing activities, dispersed to 

each of the projects on a pro rata basis. 
 
4.3 Grant Profile Recommendations 
 
i) JC to request Accountable Body Section 151 Officer and a SBCR Chief 

Executive Officer (or second S 151 Officer) to formally approach and 
consult with UK and Welsh Governments to review the current grant 
award profile, with a request to reduce this profile of funding from 15 
years to a lesser term e.g. 7 or 10 years. This will allow the funding to be 
front loaded more in line with the Programme expenditure  

 
4.4 Conclusion 
 
4.4.1 Through the adoption of the suggested recommendations (4.2 

Recommendations) a clear, transparent and impartial approach will be 
concluded in respect of programme cash surpluses, programme lending 
and support for the delivery of the PDM project.  

 
4.4.2 The recommendations allow for the support of the front loading of grant 

to the PDM project in line with scenario 1.4 Fifteen Year Grant Profile, 
with PDM’s Grant Leveraged. To ensure equality throughout the 
programme delivery, any grant forwarded above that of the projects 
entitlement will be treated as a lending facility between that of the 
programme and the Lead Authority. 

 
 
 
 

Page 27



4.4.3 Any lending facilities within in the programme will be favourable to the 
engaged Authority, with the advantage of borrowing at a reduced interest 
rate. However, with the applied interest rate recommended (4.2 
Recommendations), lending facilities would not be to the detriment of the 
Programme, should investing activities have been otherwise engaged. 

 
 
Background Papers: None. 
Appendices: None 
 
  
  

 

Page 28



 

 
 

Report of the Monitoring Officer 
 

Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee – 29 October 2019 
 

Letter from the Swansea Bay City Region Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Purpose: To report to the Joint Committee on 
correspondence received from the Joint Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 

Policy Framework: Joint Committee Agreement 
 

Consultation: Access to Services, Finance, Legal. 
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that the Joint Committee: 

 
1) Consider the recommendations made by the Joint Scrutiny 

Committee and decide whether any amendments should be made to 
the Joint Committee Agreement 

 
Report Author: Tracey Meredith 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Joint Committee approved amendments to the Joint Committee 

Agreement at their meeting on 30 July 2019. Constituent Authorities have 
now all approved the amendments and a deed of variation will be signed 
shortly by all authorities ratifying the changes made. 

 
1.2 The amendments to the Joint Committee Agreement were based on the 

two reviews undertaken by Actica Consulting Ltd and Pembrokeshire 
County Council. 

 
 
 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 12



 
2. Joint Committee Agreement amendments 
 
2.1 The Pembrokeshire County Council review noted that the Terms of 

Reference of the Joint Scrutiny Committee restricted their remit to scrutiny 
of regional projects, scrutiny of individual Authority projects are a matter 
for the relevant Constituent Authorities Scrutiny Committee. The review 
considered this detracted from the regional approach of the Swansea Bay 
City Deal. 

 
2.2 To address the review findings the Terms of Reference for the Joint 

Scrutiny Committee were amended to include the following at Paragraph 
2.2: 

 
Scrutiny of individual Authorities projects’ shall be a matter for the 
relevant Constituent Authorities’ Scrutiny Committee. Where individual 
projects have the potential to impact materially on the overall portfolio of 
the City Deal Projects the Joint Scrutiny Committee may consider 
provided that the relevant constituent Authority Scrutiny Committee is in 
agreement and does not wish to undertake scrutiny themselves. 

 
3. Joint Scrutiny Committee letter 
 
3.1 Attached at Appendix A is a letter received from the Chair of the Joint 

Scrutiny Committee dated 13 September 2019. 
 
3.2 At their meeting on 2 September they considered the Joint Committee 

Agreement following which they wished the Joint Committee to consider 
the following prior to finalising the Agreement: 

 
(a) A reduction in the quorate number of the Joint Scrutiny Committee 

to 6. 
(b) Clause 9.3 to be rewritten to provide additional clarity on what is 

being indemnified and by whom. 
(c) The caveat requiring the Joint Scrutiny Committee to seek 

permission of the constituent Authority Scrutiny Committee be 
removed. 

 
3.3 In relation to the quorate number there is unlikely to be any issue with 

reducing the quorate to 6. The present Agreement provides for a quorate 
of 8 which must include at least 1 member from each of the 4 authorities. 

 
3.4 In relation to clause 9.3 this is standard wording for an indemnity clause 

designed to protect the Accountable Body as employer of the 
Programme Director and Portfolio Management Office but recognising 
that the Programme Director receives his instructions from and is 
accountable to the Joint Committee. Therefore if the Programme Director 
or Portfolio Management Office act in a way that causes any loss to the 
Councils arising from an instruction given by the Joint Committee, then 
the Councils agree to share those losses equally. Where such losses 

Page 30



arise as a result of the Accountable Body’s negligent actions as employer 
of the Programme Director or Portfolio Management Office, then those 
losses will be borne by Carmarthenshire County Council. In the 
circumstances it is considered that the clause is appropriately worded 
from a legal perspective. 

 
3.5 The caveat around the Joint Scrutiny of individual projects was inserted to 

protect the integrity of individual constituent scrutiny committees and to 
avoid any potential for duplication of work. Individual scrutiny committees 
would be expected to be sympathetic to any request by the Joint Scrutiny 
Committee and work with the Committee to avoid any duplication of 
scrutiny work. It is not felt appropriate to remove the caveat but it is 
suggested that any requests for joint scrutiny are monitored and should 
there be any issues then the matter can be reconsidered by the Joint 
Committee as to whether the Terms of Reference do need further 
amending. 

 
4. Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
4.1 There are no specific equality or engagement implications associated 

with this report. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 All authorities have now approved the version of the Joint Committee 

Agreement which was approved by the Joint Committee. The deed of 
variation is awaiting sign off subject to government approval. Any further 
amendments may result in further delay. 

 
 
Background Papers: Joint Committee Agreement 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A Letter from Joint Scrutiny Committee dated 13 September 2019 
  
 

Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



 

 
 

Report of the Head of Democratic Services (Swansea Council) 
 

Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee – 29 October 2019 
 

Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee –  
Future Dates 2020-2021 

 

Purpose: The last diarised meeting of the Swansea Bay 
City Region Joint Committee is scheduled for 25 
February 2020.  This report seeks to extend the 
scheduled meetings until April 2021. 
 

Policy Framework: None. 
 

Consultation: All 4 Council Leaders & All 4 Chief Executives, 
Joint Committee Monitoring Officer & Joint 
Committee Section 151 Officer. 

 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

 
1) The Future dates as outlined in Paragraph 3.3 of the report be 

approved; 
 

2) The suggestion to hold Economic Strategy Board (ESB) meetings in 
Swansea on the same day as the Joint Committee, be made to the 
ESB for it to consider; 
 

3) The suggestion to hold the Programme Board approximately two 
weeks before the joint Committee, be made to the Programme Board 
for them to consider. 

 
Report Author: Huw Evans 
Finance Officer: Chris Moore 
Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith 
Access to Services Officer: N / A 

 
 

Page 34

Agenda Item 13



1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The last diarised meeting of the Swansea Bay City Region Joint 

Committee is scheduled for 25 February 2020.  This report seeks to 
extend the scheduled meetings until April 2021. 

 
1.2 Following consultation with the four Leaders of Council, four Chief 

Executives, Joint Committee Monitoring Officer and the Joint Committee 
Section 151 Officer, a schedule of Joint Committees for 2020-2021 is 
proposed as outlined below. 

 
2. Rationale for Dates of Joint Committees 
 
2.1 The Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee (where possible) be held 

on the 2nd Thursday of the Month (excluding April 2020 & 2021). 
 
3. Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee Future Dates 2020-2021 
 
3.1 The Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee meetings will commence 

at 10.30 and last for approximately two hours. 
 
3.2 They will be held in the Guildhall, Swansea; however the Chair may vary 

this as required. 
 
3.3 Future Dates (Meetings Dates in Italics previously Agreed) 
 

28 January 2020 13 August 2020 14 January 2021 

25 February 2020 10 September 2020 11 February 2021 

2 April 2020 8 October 2020 11 March 2021 

11 June 2020 12 November 2020 15 April 2021 

9 July 2020 10 December 2020 - 

 
4. Economic Strategy Board (ESB) 
 
4.1 The Chair of the Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee (Councillor 

Rob Stewart) suggests that the ESB meetings be held in Swansea on the 
same day as the Joint Committee, so as to make logistics easier for 
Partners involved in both meetings. 

 
4.2 This is a matter for the ESB to consider. 
 
5. Swansea Bay City Region Programme Board 
 
5.1 It is suggested the Programme Board meet approximately 2 weeks 

before the Joint Committee, so as to allow adequate time for the 
Programme Board to influence the Joint Committee agenda and for any 
administration to be carried out in a timely manner. 

 
5.2 This is a matter for the Programme Board to consider. 
 

Page 35



6. Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
6.1 There are no equality and engagement implications associated with this 

report. 
 
7. Financial Implications 
 
7.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
8. Legal Implications 
 
8.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
 
Background Papers: None. 
Appendices: None 
 
  
  

 

Page 36



 
 

Report of the Chief Legal Officer, Swansea Council 
 

Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee – 29 October 2019 
 

Exclusion of the Public 
 

Purpose: 
 

To consider whether the Public should be excluded 
from the following items of business. 

Policy Framework: 
 

None. 
 

Consultation: 
 

Legal. 

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

1) The public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
following item(s) of business on the grounds that it / they involve(s) the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as set out in the Paragraphs listed 
below of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by 
the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 
2007 subject to the Public Interest Test (where appropriate) being applied. 

 Item No. Relevant Paragraphs in Schedule 12A 

 15  
16 

14 
12 & 13 

Report Author: 
 

Democratic Services 

Finance Officer: 
 

Not Applicable 

Legal Officer: 
 

Tracey Meredith – Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring 
Officer) 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local 

Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007, allows a 
Principal Council to pass a resolution excluding the public from a meeting during 
an item of business. 

 
1.2 Such a resolution is dependent on whether it is likely, in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members 
of the public were present during that item there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as defined in section 100I of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 14



2. Exclusion of the Public / Public Interest Test 
 
2.1 In order to comply with the above mentioned legislation, Cabinet will be 

requested to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the 
item(s) of business identified in the recommendation(s) to the report on the 
grounds that it / they involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
set out in the Exclusion Paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) (Wales) Order 2007. 

 
2.2 Information which falls within paragraphs 12 to 15, 17 and 18 of Schedule 12A 

of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended is exempt information if and 
so long as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 

 
2.3 The specific Exclusion Paragraphs and the Public Interest Tests to be applied 

are listed in Appendix A. 
 
2.4 Where paragraph 16 of the Schedule 12A applies there is no public interest 

test.  Councillors are able to consider whether they wish to waive their legal 
privilege in the information, however, given that this may place the Council in a 
position of risk, it is not something that should be done as a matter of routine. 

 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 The legislative provisions are set out in the report. 
 
4.2 Councillors must consider with regard to each item of business set out in 

paragraph 2 of this report the following matters: 
 
4.2.1 Whether in relation to that item of business the information is capable of being 

exempt information, because it falls into one of the paragraphs set out in 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended and reproduced 
in Appendix A to this report. 

 
4.2.2 If the information does fall within one or more of paragraphs 12 to 15, 17 and 

18 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended,  the public 
interest test as set out in paragraph 2.2 of this report. 

 
4.2.3 If the information falls within paragraph 16 of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 in considering whether to exclude the public members 
are not required to apply the public interest test but must consider whether they 
wish to waive their privilege in relation to that item for any reason. 

 
Background Papers:  None. 
Appendices:               Appendix A – Public Interest Test. 

Page 38



Appendix A 
 

Public Interest Test 
 

No. Relevant Paragraphs in Schedule 12A 
  

12 Information relating to a particular individual. 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this 
report that paragraph 12 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test 
was that to make this information public would disclose personal data 
relating to an individual in contravention of the principles of the Data 
Protection Act.  Because of this and since there did not appear to be an 
overwhelming public interest in requiring the disclosure of personal data they 
felt that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.  Members are asked to consider this 
factor when determining the public interest test, which they must decide 
when considering excluding the public from this part of the meeting. 

  

13 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this 
report that paragraph 13 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test 
was that the individual involved was entitled to privacy and that there was no 
overriding public interest which required the disclosure of the individual’s 
identity.  On that basis they felt that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  
Members are asked to consider this factor when determining the public 
interest test, which they must decide when considering excluding the public 
from this part of the meeting. 

  

14 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information). 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this 
report that paragraph 14 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test 
was that: 

 

a)   Whilst they were mindful of the need to ensure the transparency and 
accountability of public authority for decisions taken by them in relation to 
the spending of public money, the right of a third party to the privacy of 
their financial / business affairs outweighed the need for that information 
to be made public; or 

 

b)   Disclosure of the information would give an unfair advantage to 
tenderers for commercial contracts. 

 

This information is not affected by any other statutory provision which 
requires the information to be publicly registered. 

 

On that basis they felt that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  Members are 
asked to consider this factor when determining the public interest test, which 
they must decide when considering excluding the public from this part of the 
meeting. 

Page 39



  

No. Relevant Paragraphs in Schedule 12A 
  

15 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of 
the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this 
report that paragraph 15 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test 
was that whilst they are mindful of the need to ensure that transparency and 
accountability of public authority for decisions taken by them they were 
satisfied that in this case disclosure of the information would prejudice the 
discussion in relation to labour relations to the disadvantage of the authority 
and inhabitants of its area.  On that basis they felt that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.  Members are asked to consider this factor when determining 
the public interest test, which they must decide when considering excluding 
the public from this part of the meeting. 

  

16 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal proceedings. 

 No public interest test. 
  

17 Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 

(a) To give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a person; or 

(b) To make an order or direction under any enactment. 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this 
report that paragraph 17 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test 
was that the authority’s statutory powers could be rendered ineffective or 
less effective were there to be advanced knowledge of its intention/the 
proper exercise of the Council’s statutory power could be prejudiced by the 
public discussion or speculation on the matter to the detriment of the 
authority and the inhabitants of its area.  On that basis they felt that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information.  Members are asked to consider this factor when 
determining the public interest test, which they must decide when 
considering excluding the public from this part of the meeting.  

  

18 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection 
with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this 
report that paragraph 18 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test 
was that the authority’s statutory powers could be rendered ineffective or 
less effective were there to be advanced knowledge of its intention/the 
proper exercise of the Council’s statutory power could be prejudiced by 
public discussion or speculation on the matter to the detriment of the 
authority and the inhabitants of its area.  On that basis they felt that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information.  Members are asked to consider this factor when 
determining the public interest test, which they must decide when 
considering excluding the public from this part of the meeting. 

 

Page 40



 

 
 

Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee – 29 Oct 2019 
 

Pembroke Dock Marine Business Case 

 

Purpose: To consider feedback from the Economic Strategy 
Board on the Pembroke Dock Marine project and 
approve the formal submission of the full five case 
business plan to the UK and Welsh Government 
for approval. 
 
To grant officers delegated powers to make any 
minor amendments necessary to obtain that 
approval.   
 

Policy Framework: Swansea Bay City Deal 
 

  
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

 
1) The Joint Committee approve the formal submission of the Pembroke 

Dock Marine full five case business plan to the UK and Welsh 
Government for approval. 

2) The Joint Committee grant officers delegated powers to make any 
minor amendments necessary to obtain that approval.   

 
Report Author: Helen Morgan, Regional Office 
Finance Officer: Chris Moore, Section 151 Officer, SBCD 
Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith, Monitoring Officer, SBCD 
Access to Services Officer:  

 
 
1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The Pembroke Dock Marine project is a key project within the £1.3bn 
Swansea Bay City Deal Programme. The project is seeking approval for 
£28m of Government Funds to deliver a £60.4m project. The project has 

Page 41

Agenda Item 15



been approved by the Swansea Bay City Deal Programme Board on the 
18th October 2019 and the Economic Strategy Board on the 8th October 
2019 subject to resolution of the project funding package.  

 
2. Pembroke Dock Marine (PDM) 
 
2.1 The Pembroke Dock Marine (PDM) project comprises of four elements 

which will build on an existing energy cluster that has grown around the 
Pembroke Dock area, in order to develop a world class centre for blue 
economic development.  PDM will act as a catalyst for what is a powerful 
suite of global markets, by offering unrivalled location, knowledge and 
expertise, supply chain and connectivity benefits. It will help to nurture 
developing technologies, most immediately acknowledging the real and 
immediate opportunity presented by the nascent marine energy sector, 
and minimises risk for investors in a fast-growing sector projected to be 
worth £76bn by 2050.  The four elements are: 

 
i) Pembroke Dock Infrastructure (PDI) – delivered by the Port of 

Milford Haven. 
This element requires £21.55m from the City Deal and will use that to 
leverage a further £20m of public and private funding. The output will be 
the creation of an operational base in excess of 5.5ha suited to modern 
industrial needs - predominantly infrastructure, with some superstructure 
elements with a design life in excess of 80 years. 

 
ii) Marine Energy Engineering Centre of Excellence (MEECE) - 

delivered by ORE Catapult. 
This requires £4m from the City Deal that will leverage a further £7.2m of 
funding, made up from European, core Catapult funds and the academic 
sector. This will focus on creating a dedicated, long-term Catapult base 
onsite unlocking innovation by bringing together academia and business. 
The presence of a Catapult operation in the region provides a strong link 
into the UK’s Industrial Strategy, and would be a key Pembrokeshire 
asset, attracting further funding into the county. 

 
iii) Marine Energy Test Area (META) – delivered by Marine Energy 

Wales. 
This is a £2.7m element requiring £783k of City Deal funding. All of the 
match funding has been secured, with the last £400k provided by WEFO 
under their Targeted Match Funding portfolio. This is a result of wanting 
to de-risk other technology development funding operations with WEFO 
totalling in excess of £45m who are either based in Pembroke Dock or 
are seeking to set up their operations here and use META. The output 
will be the creation of a range of pre-consented zones on the Waterway 
for testing of component and small scale devices. 
 

iv) Pembrokeshire Demonstration Zone (PDZ) – delivered by Wave Hub 
Limited. 
This will further develop the technology demonstration zone off the 
Pembrokeshire coast in readiness for testing wave and floating wind 
arrays. The scope of this element has always been subject to the results 

Page 42



of a feasibility study, which is now complete. By carrying out 
environmental consenting and detailed engineering design works, PDZ 
will remove many of the barriers that device developers normally face 
when trying to deploy their technologies. Working with MEECE, META 
and through enhanced infrastructure at Pembroke Dock, device 
developers can also share in the knowledge and experience developed 
by the whole sector, making their deployments in PDZ less risky, more 
reliable and, therefore, cheaper to finance. 

 
3. The Business Case 
 
3.1 As required by the HM Treasury Green Book Model, a full five case 

business plan for Pembroke Dock Marine has been developed for the 
City Deal funding. This comprises the following elements; 

 
i) Strategic Case - describes the status quo, case for change and 

expected outcomes. In doing so, it indicates the direction of travel and 
demonstrates project alignment with, and contribution to, key national, 
regional and local strategies/legislation, including the Well-being of 
Future Generations Act 2015. 

 
ii) Economic Case - presents the economic rationale for developing the 

Pembroke Dock Marine, focusing on multi-sector job creation and Gross 
Value Added (GVA). This section also includes a detailed health 
outcomes appraisal and outlines how the project was determined. 

 
iii) Financial Case - examines capital and revenue costs of the City Deal 

funding elements and their component parts, assumptions around space 
requirements and the projected occupancy and business needs over the 
15 year period. 

 
iv) Commercial Case - focuses on the competitive dialogue procurement 

exercise to identify development partner/s. 
 
v) Management Case - sets out the governance structure in place to 

deliver the Pembroke Dock Marine. 
 
3.2 The Joint Committee Agreement for the Swansea Bay City Deal which 

provides the legal framework for the Deal was unanimously approved by 
the four Councils of the region in summer 2018. The agreement 
stipulates that in order to release City Deal funding for projects a full five 
case business plan, based on the HM Treasury Green Book Model, must 
be submitted by the Joint Committee to the UK and Welsh Governments 
for formal review and approval. 

 
3.3 The full five case business plan for Pembroke Dock Marine has been 

subject to a detailed review process by the UK and Welsh Governments. 
This has involved a series of question and answer exercises that have 
supported the development of the business plan to the required standard. 
The business case was considered at the Economic Strategy Board 

Page 43



meeting on 8th October 2019 and feedback from the meeting is attached 
for the Joint Committees consideration. 

 
3.4 As a result it is recommended that the attached full five case business 

plan for Pembroke Dock Marine be submitted to UK and Welsh 
Government for formal review and that the Joint Committee grant officers 
delegated powers to make any minor amendments necessary to obtain 
that approval. 

 
4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 Financial implications are detailed within the within the business case 

(Table 3.5 Main Business and Service Risks). 
 
4.2 Currently Welsh and UK Government are providing grant funding over a 

15 year term. Borrowing undertaken as a result of this funding profile will 
be the obligation of the Lead Authority with which responsibility is held for 
project delivery. It is the responsibility of the Lead Authority to ensure 
appropriate governance structures are in place for the payment of grant 
to third party providers. 

 
4.3 Discussions have taken place in respect of the cashflow situation of the 

project, and the pressure of the interest payments. Options in terms of 
support in respect of the cashflow requirements are being considered 
elsewhere on the agenda today, which is aimed at assisting 
Pembrokeshire County Council with the financial pressures incurred in 
delivering the PDM project. These recommendations require formal 
approval by the Joint Committee on 29th October 2019. 

 
4.4 European funding is attached to the project with a tight timescale 

imposed due to the political climate. This could be jeopardised if a 
resolution is not found in respect of the borrowing arrangements, 
potentially having a detrimental effect on the project. 

 
5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 Project leads will be responsible for managing legal requirements 

associated with the project.  
 
5.2 Any programme level legal requirements will be managed by the 

Accountable Body in accordance with the arrangements set out in the 
Joint Committee Agreement. 

 
5.3 No City Deal monies will be released until a funding agreement is in 

place with the project lead. 
 
5.4 Public Interest Test 
 
5.4.1 Although the public interest would normally favour transparency and 

openness and the publication of reports, this is outweighed in this 
instance by the public interest in maintaining confidentiality because the 

Page 44



report includes the Business Case which is to be submitted to the UK 
and Welsh Governments for approval and contains indicative costs 
estimates, and disclosing those indicative costs estimates in advance of 
procuring a works contractor could prejudice the procurer’s position 

 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A 
Appendix B 

Economic Strategy Board Report to Joint Committee  
Pembroke Dock Marine Five Case Business Plan 

Appendix C Business Case Appendices 
 
Note: Appendices B & C are very large documents and are available via the 
following electronic link: 
https://carmarthenshire.sharefile.eu/customlogin.aspx 
 
Joint Committee Members have permissions to access the system.  Follow link 
and then drill down as outlined below: 
Shared Folders > City Deal > Project Leads > Pembroke Dock Marine > 
FBC_V7.1 
 
You may have to reset your password to view the documents. 
 
 

Page 45

https://carmarthenshire.sharefile.eu/customlogin.aspx


Appendix A 

 

Economic Strategy Board Report to Joint Committee on Pembroke Dock Marine business 
case. 
Background:  
This report contains specific Economic Strategy Board (ESB) feedback on the Pembroke Dock Marine 
project. The ESB attended a tour of the onshore Pembroke Dock Marine site on the 26th February 2019 which was followed by a detailed discussion 
on the business case. In addition the ESB held individual sessions with the project lead for each project element followed by a collective session 
with the project group and Pembrokeshire County Council on 29th April 2019. This enabled the ESB to engage in focused discussions with project 
delivery and authority leads around the opportunities and concerns that the ESB has identified in relation to the project. The ESB, in their advisory 
capacity to the Joint Committee, is dedicated to offering further support and assistance in addressing these opportunities and concerns, drawing 
on their specialist knowledge and expertise to ensure maximum impact of the City Deal is realised. The ESB will monitor the progress and impact 
of the project and report as required to the Joint Committee. 
Conclusion: 

The Economic Strategy Board (ESB) is fully supportive of the ambitions of the Pembroke Dock Marine project and enthused by its transformational 
aspirations. The ESB feel there are clear synergies between project elements and that the project will diversify and enhance the existing skills base 
within the regions energy sector. The ESB are confident that the project offers considerable potential to deliver significant outcomes for the region 
and to support the growth of the marine energy sector. The ESB recognise the unique opportunity presented by the geographical location and 
existing skills and expertise in both the primary energy sector and local supply chains which the project seeks to capitalise on in order to future 
proof the regional economy and generate growth in this key regional sector.  
The ESB concludes that the vast majority of concerns detailed in this report do not prevent or significantly impede the delivery of the project and 
is encouraged by the additional opportunities to work collectively to identify innovative solutions and further the positive impacts of the project. The 
ESB would encourage further work to improve academic links and legacy planning, particularly around the Pembrokeshire Demonstration Zone 
which they view as a key risk. The ESB also recommends that, should there be resolution of the funding gap for borrowing costs for the project, 
the Pembroke Dock Marine business case should only be progressed for approval by the Joint Committee and the UK and Welsh Government 
either with a formal lead partner and partnership agreement in place or with a caveat that a formal lead partner be identified and formal partnership 
agreement put in place before funding is released.  
Ultimately however the ESB considers that the project cannot progress without agreement on how the funding for City Deal expenditure will be 
front loaded. The ESB is aware that there are ongoing discussions between the project delivery lead, project authority lead and the Region to 
identify a solution to the cash flow issue and are encouraged by this and support a local approach to reaching a resolution. The ESB understands 
that these discussions are yet to reach a conclusion and that therefore the funding package for the project is not fully confirmed at this point. As a 

 

Fundamental Issues: 

 Without resolution of the funding gap for the borrowing costs associated with the scheme the Pembroke Dock Marine business case 

cannot be progressed for approval by the Joint Committee and the UK and Welsh Government.  

 

P
age 46



Appendix A 

 

result the ESB recommends to the Joint Committee that the business case should not be submitted for approval to both the UK and Welsh 
Government until this issue has been resolved and the full funding package for the project has been secured. 
 
Pembroke Dock Marine 
 

Opportunities: 
 
General: 

 Clear synergy and cohesion between projects. 

 Project elements could be delivered independently but each 
elements success is significantly accelerated and enhanced by 
bring them together.  

 Delivered by the private sector. 
 
META: 

 Good project with clear potential to support development of 
regional industry.  

 Strong links with all other elements of the PDM project. 

 Opportunity to aspire to give standard certifications.  
 

MEECE: 

 Links with academia could be strengthened to help improve 
sustainability and legacy of the project. For example; 

 There is opportunity to influence the curriculum within 
universities to enhance and develop a pipeline of learning and 
skills in the field i.e. developing “engineers of the future”.  

 Direct sponsorship from universities into MEECE would improve 
proposals by enabling closer working relationships between 
device developers and academia and long-term sustainability.  
 

Pembroke Dock Infrastructure (PDI): 

 Identifying private sector partners would strengthen the current 
case.  

 Ensuring cohesion and integration with other project elements 
will help to generate future demand for facilities.  

Concerns: 
 

 
Urgent:- The ESB recommendations that the following issues form part of the 
terms and conditions associated with release of funding to the project lead: 

 Arrangement between partners is formalised, as intended, as a matter of 
urgency including detail on what happens if one party defaults in order 
to ensure sustainability and cohesion through project delivery.  

 An overarching visionary lead for the project is identified and named to 
champion and guide the ambition and support coordinated delivery. As 
with the above point this presents a potential risk for silo working to occur.   

 
General: 

 Limited sustainability and legacy associated with the current proposals. 
These elements could be strengthened to ensure ongoing benefits to the 
region and sector.  

 Need City Deal funding secured to hit WEFO delivery timescales. 
 
MEECE: 

 Lack of sustainability and clear, robust plan for delivery beyond four year 
WEFO project.  

 Current proposal is inconsistent with best practice of successful Catapults 
in other areas where specialist innovative equipment is provided to small 
businesses creating a USP for the Catapult.  

 
Pembroke Dock Infrastructure (PDI):  

 Currently no proposals to provide fabrication facilities due to industry 
feedback however these facilities have been successful in other areas. 

 
Pembrokeshire Demonstration Zone (PDZ): 

P
age 47



Appendix A 

 

 Links to schools and colleges would significantly strengthen the 
proposals. 

 
Pembrokeshire Demonstration Zone (PDZ): 

 Given the apparent interest from the private sector the proposal 
would benefit significantly for an agreement in principle (pending 
City Deal approval) with one / some of the main interested 
parties.  

 Joint Venture for future licensing with PCC 

 Lack of any physical facilities build or delivery of any concrete benefit. 

 Consents may not be granted and therefore project cannot proceed.  

 Lack of sustainability in current proposals.  

 Limited job creation 

 Dependent on future elements to enable developers to locate and grow 
in the area on a longer term basis 

 
 

P
age 48



Document is Restricted

Page 49

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972
as amended by the Local Government (Access to
Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.



Document is Restricted

Page 53

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972
as amended by the Local Government (Access to
Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.



Document is Restricted

Page 54

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972
as amended by the Local Government (Access to
Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.



Document is Restricted

Page 55

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972
as amended by the Local Government (Access to
Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.


	Agenda
	3 Minutes.
	7 Project Issue Log and Programme Risk Register.
	07 - Project Issue and Risk Log
	07 - Risk Register

	8 Financial Monitoring Report 2019/20 - Swansea Bay City Deal Outturn Position.
	9 Additional Resource Funding Proposal.
	10 Establish a Transport Sub Committee.
	11 Cash Flow & Grant Profile Summary.
	12 Letter from the Swansea Bay City Region Joint Scrutiny Committee.
	12 - Letter Joint Scrutiny Cttee - App A- FINAL

	13 Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee - Future Dates 2020-2021.
	14 Exclusion of the Public.
	15 Pembroke Dock Marine Business Case.
	16 Shortlisting of Programme Director.
	16 - Exempt - App A(i) - Shortlist Summary
	16 - Exempt - App A(ii) - Shortlisting Matrix.xls
	16 - Exempt - App B - Example Assessment Centre.doc


